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FOREWORD


Sir Paul McCartney


The Cavern – do I have memories of the Cavern? Do I? Oh yeah. My first memories were of us trying to get booked there, but in the early days the Cavern only booked jazz and blues artists and frowned upon upstart rock’n’rollers like ourselves. We fibbed about our repertoire and managed to get a date there, where we proceeded to announce songs like ‘Long Tall Sally’ as being written by Blind Lemon Jefferson and ‘Blue Suede Shoes’, the famous creation of the legendary blues artist Leadbelly! When the owners of the Cavern realised what we were doing, they sent up little notes to the stage complaining but by then it was too late and we had managed to infiltrate.


We were so persistent that we eventually managed to get some follow-up dates and soon became regulars at the sweaty little cellar below Mathew Street; and sweaty it was – sometimes the condensation on the ceiling from the people crowded in there would drip onto our equipment, causing the amps to fuse and the power to go off. We then improvised, singing a cappella, anything we could think of that the audience would be able to join in with. We came to know regulars like Bob Wooler, the great DJ, Paddy Delaney, the legendary bouncer and Ray McFall, the enthusiastic owner.


My second, and worst, memories was arriving at the Cavern for one of the famous lunchtime sessions and realising I had forgotten my Hofner bass and as I was left-handed (and still am!) nobody could lend me one, so I quickly drove half an hour to my house, picked up the bass but arrived back in time for the end of the Beatles’ set, having been replaced by a bass player from one of the other groups (I seem to remember it was Johnny Gustafson of the Big Three). Was I gutted? Oh yeah!


It was the breeding ground for what would become the Beatles’ early repertoire, and I will always think of the place with great affection for the days spent with my pals in its sweaty, damp atmosphere with the audience chewing on cheese rolls, swigging Coca-Cola and sending up bits of paper to the stage with requests for songs such as ‘Shop Around’ and ‘Searchin’’ to be played for crowd members calling themselves things like The Cement Mixers and so on.


I could go on but I won’t. They were happy days, so many congratulations, Cavern, on this anniversary.




FROM ME TO YOU: AN INTRODUCTION


Many clubs have played a significant part in shaping popular music – Birdland and CBGB’s in New York; Whisky-A-Go-Go in Los Angeles; Ronnie Scott’s, the Marquee, the 100 Club in London; the Armadillo in Austin, Texas; Tipitina’s in New Orleans; Tootsie’s in Nashville – but none of them are as well-known or as influential as the Cavern. Without any fear of contradiction, I can say that the Cavern is the most famous club in the world and a letter simply addressed to ‘The Cavern, Liverpool’ will reach its destination.


This is the story of the Cavern. It is a new edition of a book I wrote in 2008, The Cavern: The Most Famous Club in the World. The majority of the text is in diary form and gives you a feel of what was happening day-to-day at the Cavern. The tale is told chronologically from its opening in January 1957 to the present day, updated from 2008 to 2015. The names of the speakers are printed in bold type and come from my own interviews with musicians, fans and Cavern staff. I have matched the anecdotes and opinions with the dates, but sometimes this has to be on a ‘best guess’ basis. There are notes on the contributors at the back of the book.


The Cavern started as a jazz club in 1957 and for some years, the Merseysippi Jazz Band ruled the roost. They and their fans had little time for anything but jazz and it is fascinating to follow the changes as they take place in the text. At first the jazz fans tolerated skiffle but hated rock’n’roll, but by 1961 the new manager knew that was the way forward. The Beatles had come back supercharged from Hamburg and offered a totally different and very exciting sound, but it didn’t take long for the other bands to realise that they would have to have radical transformations as well.


It wasn’t enough to do a cover version of an American hit, you had also to put your own personality on it. The beat groups brought this distinctiveness to their performances when they made records in 1963: you can obviously tell the Beatles straight away but that also applies to Gerry and the Pacemakers and several other bands as well. The Beatles, the Searchers and the Big Three all recorded fine versions of ‘Some Other Guy’ and they don’t sound like each other at all.


It is true that the Beatles played many other clubs on Merseyside and had several months in Hamburg before they were famous, but I would argue that the Cavern was the most important of all. The club wasn’t licensed so the fans went there to listen to the music. It was a sweat hole but the acoustics were great and they sounded wonderful. When you read what Willy Russell has to say about them, you will wish you had been there – and if you were, how lucky you are. Brian Epstein saw them once at the Cavern and knew he had to manage them.


The Beatles’ most dedicated fans were at the Cavern and they would try out new songs and learn how to work an audience. They made nearly 300 appearances and crucially, they were working alongside other Merseybeat bands. Every time they appeared, they wanted to be better than Gerry and the Pacemakers, Billy J Kramer, the Searchers and the Big Three, not to mention the guest bands from outside the area.


Facing such competition as the Beatles encouraged the other bands to up their game and in particular, there was a rush to find and perform great but obscure American R&B songs. They stretched themselves – Gerry and the Pacemakers, for example, played the modern jazz of ‘Take Five’ with its unusual time signatures. When the Beatles (and Paul McCartney in particular) performed ‘Over the Rainbow’ with great success, Gerry and the Pacemakers picked the Broadway tune, ‘You’ll Never Walk Alone’ and well, you know the rest.


Although the beat groups took so much from black America, Merseybeat was very much a white form of music and only Derry Wilkie and the Chants had regular bookings on the scene. Similarly, girl singers had a raw deal – and there were hardly any female musicians, although the Liver Birds had some success at the Star-Club in Hamburg. You won’t read much about Cilla Black in this book. True she was often at the Cavern but usually in her role as a cloakroom attendant. She did sing occasionally with the bands and she recorded ‘Boys’ and ‘Love of the Loved’, both of which were in the Beatles’ repertoire.


There isn’t much in this book about the Searchers and the Undertakers and there is a good reason for this. They were the resident bands at the nearly Iron Door club, performing to an equally enthusiastic audience. There was some rivalry between the club managers and hence, the Iron Door did not chase after the Beatles.


Yes, the Beatles would have made it without the Cavern, but when Parlophone released ‘Love Me Do’ in October 1962, they knew just what to do next and a lot of that was down to their experience with the audiences at the Cavern.


The club fell on hard times when the key players moved away, although that was not the sole reason for its demise. The question is often asked, “Did the Beatles make the Cavern or did the Cavern make the Beatles?” When the club was in financial meltdown in 1966, none of the Beatles saw fit to rescue it and John said, ‘We owe nothing to the club. We’ve done them a favour and made them famous.” Similarly, George Harrison said it was no concern of his. Maybe not but where was their charity?


Not to worry. In 1966 it was reopened by a Prime Minister and then demolished a few years later, apparently to make way for a ventilation shaft for the underground railway – a bizarre story in itself – and note the equally bizarre connection between the Cavern and the key punk club, Eric’s. Now the Cavern has been lovingly reconstructed and treated as though it were the original. And why not? We’ll never have anything better. The original Cavern lasted from 1957 to 1973, but the new club has been there since 1984, already lasting many years longer than the original.


Today the Cavern is thriving – there are two stages that are in use in the evenings and virtually a third as the Cavern pub across the road has live music as well. New music is encouraged just as there are always daytime tribute bands for the tourists. Indeed, I would say that the Cavern has never been healthier.


Although its capacity is now restricted to 360, famous acts play at the Cavern – notably Paul McCartney in 1999 – and its current owners encourage new music. As they see it, the club has “a foot in the past, a hand in the future”. There will always be music in Liverpool but who can say whether lightning will strike the city twice and produce another Beatles? If it does, the band will certainly have played the Cavern.


The Cavern Club: The Rise of the Beatles and Merseybeat may be filed alongside the Beatle books, but it is not just the story of the Beatles. Nor is it just the story of Merseybeat, which only lasted a couple of years. Those are crucial components, but this is the story of the Cavern with its ups and downs, its unlikely owners, its disc-jockeys, its performers, its patrons and its sanitation. I am telling the story almost as though the Cavern were a person. On the whole, I am not describing what happens outside its doors.


That the Cavern was both so small and so famous works to my advantage. A star might appear at the Liverpool Empire, do his show to rapturous applause and be rushed to the safety of his hotel room, having met few of his public. This didn’t happen at the Cavern. The club attracted big-name guests and whether they liked it or not, they had to mix with the patrons because the club was so cramped, had a tiny band-room and, for several years, had only one entrance. Hence, there were hundreds of encounters between the musicians and their public, and I hope I’ve found the best ones for this book.


When the contributors refer to contemporary payments, I have not added today’s monetary equivalent. Suffice it to say, that there were 12 pence in a shilling and 20 shillings to the £. A shilling was also known as a bob, so five bob is 25p, although five bob in 1963 would be worth about £3 today.


Both the Merseysippi Jazz Band and the beat group the Merseybeats were known to their followers as ‘the Merseys’. To avoid confusion, I have referred to the jazz band as ‘the Merseysippis’ throughout the text. Nowadays, Merseybeat generally is written as one word, but Bill Harry’s newspaper was Mersey Beat.


The Swinging Blue Jeans began life as the Blue Genes Skiffle Group, then the Swinging Blue Genes and after that, the Swinging Blue Jeans. The changes are somewhat gradual but I have called them the Swinging Blue Jeans once they came back from Hamburg in October 1962 with a different sound and repertoire.


Bob Wooler often referred to Brian Epstein as ‘B.E.’ as in his notable phrase, “If B.E. had not been feeling that way, that day, it never would have happened, OK?” Writing that now, I can imagine Bob, who died in 2002, stabbing me in the chest with his finger as he said it. What a fantastic guy he was: I do miss him.


However tempting it may seem, I have kept to the subject matter, that is, what happened at the Cavern. I am not telling the story of the Beatles in the wider world or, indeed, in other Merseyside clubs. This is a claustrophobic story about a particular club on its key nights. I believe that by concentrating my efforts on the Cavern, many things have come to light and I hope that there is as much to surprise and delight you as surprised and delighted me.


Spencer Leigh


September 2015




1. ANOTHER POOL OF LIFE




“There I was, a-digging this hole, hole in the ground.”


(Bernard Cribbins’ hit single produced by George Martin, 1962)





Yes, it’s true: the Beatles walked on water. They also sang and played on water. When the Cavern’s site was excavated in 1982, the builders stumbled upon an old shaft that led into a huge hole, a cavern underneath the Cavern, as it were. It was filled with water and the architect and the site agent bravely investigated it in a rubber dinghy. The lake was 120 feet long and 70 feet wide and, in parts, eight foot deep. There was no other exit and because of the scrapings in the sandstone wall, they could tell it was man-made. But why was it constructed? What would anyone want with a giant underground cellar? One theory is that it was a slave hole where the unfortunates were kept before being transported, but that seems very unlikely. Liverpool was part of the triangular slave trade but there is no evidence that any of the slaves came to Liverpool. Still, whatever the reason, the site was flooded.


This is one of the mysteries of Mathew Street, but we can demolish another myth immediately. In the 1950s some national newspapers reported that an 18th century ghost known as ‘Short John’ had been spotted in the ladies’ toilets at the Cavern. “It nearly frightened me out my nylons,” said Jean McCall, “He was just like a Teddy boy, except he wore strange clothes.” When I interviewed the Cavern’s founding owner, Alan Sytner, he told me that the whole story had been created for publicity – and it worked.


Despite valiant efforts by myself and others, the site retains some secrets. Why is it called Mathew Street? The unusual spelling suggests that it was named after a specific individual and that is correct. Before it was Mathew Street, it was Mathew Pluckington Street. Mr Pluckington was a merchant, and presumably a successful one if he had had a street named after him, but I know nothing else about him.


Mathew Street is in the centre of Liverpool: it is a quarter of a mile long and it runs from North John Street at one end to Stanley Street and hence Whitechapel at the other. The narrow street developed into two rows of seven-storey warehouses, being serviced by the cargoes of the ships arriving in the port. Gore’s Directory of Liverpool for 1857 paints a vivid picture of Liverpool life. The premises belong to fruit merchants and dealers in tea, rice and wool as well as cabinet makers. To add variety, there is a grate manufacturer and a smoke-jack cleaner and a customs officer to dispense authority, but strangely there is no listing for 10 Mathew Street, the site of the Cavern.


Gore’s Directory for 1853 suggests that it was a private dwelling, so the most likely explanation is that around 1857 the house was demolished and the warehouses built. Maybe the lake was cut after the house was taken down but before the warehouses were built.


The commodities changed, but from around the turn of the century to the 1950s, the building was owned by the provision merchants, the Bamford Brothers. It wouldn’t have been the easiest place to work as the narrowness of the street made it difficult for trucks to deposit or collect their goods. Still, once you had done your work, you could always pop in the Grapes, which is listed in Kelly’s Directory for 1907 and so has been serving customers for over 100 years.


In the Second World War, the basement of 10 Mathew Street was used as an air-raid shelter. After that, it was used for storing wines and spirits, and then for eggs and Irish bacon. The basement was 58 feet by 39 feet (roughly 2,300 square feet) and was 11 feet below street level.


In 1956, the warehouse was being used to store electrical goods, but the basement was vacant. And underneath that, and unbeknown to everyone, was that lake.




2. CAVERN IN THE TOWN


Cavern owner: Alan Sytner, 1957–1959


The great thing about writing the story of the Cavern is that I know the book will be full of colourful characters, and they start with the larger than life Joe Sytner, who had been a councillor, a ship’s doctor and a Liverpool GP. A fellow doctor, Sid Hoddes knew him well: “Joe Sytner was a very pleasant bod and the senior partner of a very successful practice, Sytner, Livingstone and O’Brien, in Boundary Street. I was in general practice in the place next door and we used to meet in the local chemist. When your income got to a certain level you paid surtax, and the chemist was moaning one day, ‘If I earn any more, I will have to pay surtax.’ Joe said, ‘If I had to give you any blessing, may you be in surtax soon and may you stay in surtax as it would be really nice for you to be earning that much money.’ Other people saw the disadvantages but Joe always saw the positive side.”


The hillbilly docker, Hank Walters told me: “Joe Sytner was a superb GP who knew the name of everyone in his surgery. He circumcised me when I was 12 and he said, ‘You’re going to have to change your religion.’ I said, ‘No, no, I’m from Netherfield Road.’” That anecdote comes under the heading of too much information, but it tells you something about Dr Sytner, religious divides in the city, and Liverpool wit.


Sid Hoddes again – and try reading this in a Jackie Mason voice: “The Sytners were a Jewish family and one of the things in Jewish cooking is gefilte fish. People brag about how their mothers make better gefilte fish than their wives. Joe told his wife than she couldn’t make gefilte fish like his mother. She was fed up with it. She asked Joe’s mother to make gefilte fish to satisfy Joe for once. Joe said, ‘And you know what? Not only can my wife not make gefilte fish like my mother but my mother can’t either.’”


Joe Sytner had been the house surgeon at Wigan Infirmary and the David Lewis Northern Hospital in Liverpool. During the war, he had been a doctor to the Norwegian Government, and then he set up his own docklands practice. He and his family lived at 105 Menlove Avenue, Woolton. John Lennon and his Aunt Mimi lived at 251, and I say this to get in a gratuitous Beatles reference as early as I can. Surprisingly though, the first genuine reference is going to come earlier than you might expect.


Sid Hoddes: “Joe Sytner wasn’t just in general practice as he took an enormous interest in other things. He was medical officer to the local boys’ club and boxing club – boxing was a fine sport in those days – and Joe gave his services free of charge. The clubs were in the Scotland Road area and the boys’ clubs were wonderful. The kids were in the clubs and not creating havoc on the street.”


Joe Sytner would often talk about “my boy”, his son Alan, and wondering what he would be up to next. Folk musician Tony Davis: “Dr Sytner was a wonderful man. My wife worked at the British American Tobacco Company which is where we met. She knew all the girls on the factory floor and they all used to go to him, especially if they were ‘in trouble’ as it used to be called, and he would look after them. He was very greatly loved by the working people of the area. I am sure that Joe would have liked Alan to have been something professional but Alan had his own ideas. Doc just said, ‘Well, if he is going to make his own way, he is going to make his own way’, so he was a good chap.”


Joe’s elder son, Alan, was a bright lad. He was training to be a stock broker, but Joe’s generosity worked against him. Joe had taken out an insurance policy for Alan when he was a baby and it matured when he was 21, giving him £400. In 1956 Alan, a jazz aficionado, started the 21 club at 21 Croxteth Road, close to the city centre. It was supported by a Crosby based jazz band, led by Ralph Watmough.


Before he formed the Spinners, Tony Davis had established the Muskrat Jazz Band: “We played at the 21 Club which was Alan Sytner’s way of getting the money together for the Cavern. I remember going in there one night and there was a great rhythm and blues record playing and it was Elvis Presley. I didn’t know who it was, but it was a smashing record. The pianist Ron Rubin turned up wearing dark glasses and he said, ‘There’s nothing wrong with my eyes, I am just posing.’”


Alan Sytner recalled, “I was doing okay with the 21 but I realised that if I had a better place, a more interesting place, I could open two, three or four nights a week, perhaps for different sorts of jazz including modern jazz. If I rented a property, it would work out far more economically and I would have my own say as to when I opened and what I did. I went looking for somewhere that could be turned into a jazz club. I looked at lots of sites but nothing was of great interest.”


On Friday 16 May 1947, close to Notre Dame on 5 Rue de la Huchette, a jazz club opened in Paris. It was called Le Caveau de la Huchette and was effectively a basement club with a cave for dancing. The building was centuries old and was something of a secret place in the eighteenth century because of its underground passages. Trials were conducted on the spot and often evidence was concealed in its deep well. In 1947, after the Second World War, la liberté came to the area and the jazz club was opened. Many famous noted musicians have played there including Sidney Bechet, Lionel Hampton, Memphis Slim, Art Blakey and Sacha Distel. It can be seen in the films, The Cheats (aka Youthful Sinners, Les Tricheurs) (1958), The First Time (La Première Fois) (1976) and Rouge Baiser (1985). On 16 May 2007, it celebrated its sixtieth birthday.


Alan Sytner was impressed: “I had spent most of my school holidays in France, and most of that time in Paris, so that I could go to jazz clubs and see the bohemian life. I was only a kid, 14, when I first went, but I was dazzled by it and it was all part of the glamour of Paris after the war.”


An estate agent, Glyn Evans, knew of an old, abandoned cellar with arches in Mathew Street. It was opposite one of Alan Sytner’s drinking haunts, The Grapes. Sytner climbed down a rickety ladder and shone his flashlight. Glyn Evans was offering him a replica of a club he loved, Le Caveau, hence the name ‘The Cavern’. Sytner thought it the perfect location as Mathew Street resembled one of those little narrow streets in the Latin Quarter. He would bring the Left Bank to Liverpool.


Sytner fought with the planning authorities over the conversion of the premises to a jazz club but it certainly helped that everybody knew, or knew of, his father. Once permission was granted, the first task was to clear the site. Sytner recruited many volunteers, including a young architect, Keith Hemmings. “I was a very good friend of Alan’s and we used to go on holiday together. He had this great idea of having a jazz club in Liverpool and I was going to be his partner. I drew up the plans and with a few friends including my future wife Angela, we knocked the walls down, worked on the toilets and built the stage.”


Alan Sytner: “The place had been reinforced to make an air-raid shelter and the brick reinforcements had to be removed with sledgehammers as we couldn’t get in a pneumatic drill. We did it by hand and we were left with a lot of rubble. That was the ideal foundation for the stage, which was made of wood and just went over the bricks. It did a great job of balancing the acoustics, and the acoustics in the Cavern were terrific, absolutely brilliant.”


However, Alan Sytner soon realised that some professional help was needed and amongst the artisans he employed were two carpenters, Harry Harris and his son, Ian. Harry Harris was Paul McCartney’s uncle so two of McCartney’s relations helped to build the Cavern stage – extraordinary! Ian Harris: “My father had bought the company, Campbell and Turner, from old Mr Campbell, and I worked for him as a joiner. Alan Sytner asked him to do some work on the Cavern and we did a number of things. The staircase was in a straight line going down and we altered that so that there was a turn of 90 degrees before you got to the bottom and we had to install some regulation fire doors. There was already a Gents toilet in there and we had to create one for the Ladies, but this was not a big job as we simply extended the drainpipe from the Gents. We also put a perfume machine in the Ladies. You put in some money and it would squirt perfume at you. The stage itself was a low brick wall with timber over the top of it. This was old roofing timber and they were big, heavy pieces. They contained a lot of large iron nails that we couldn’t get out. Then there was some light timbering, tongue-and-groove, that we put over the top of it.”


On 12 August 1956, the White Eagle Jazz Band came from Leeds to Liverpool for £3 a man. Their leader and trumpet player, John Cook, recorded it in his diary: “Paddy McKiernan, who ran the Manchester Jazz Club, got us gigs in Liverpool, first in the Temple Restaurant and then at the Cavern. We were playing in place of the Merseysippi Jazz Band one night at the Temple and Alan Sytner told me that he had secured a place that would make a wonderful jazz club and would I go and see it after we’d finished. I said okay as it was only round the corner. We took our instruments with us and we walked round to Mathew Street. It was a dirty cellar down a long flight of stone steps with one light at the bottom. It was full of bricks and rubbish. Mike Paley and I were walking round it and I stuck the mouthpiece in my trumpet and blew the first few notes in the Cavern. We all agreed that it looked like a cavern and the name stuck.”


So, the White Eagles blew the first notes in the Cavern and also named the place. Or did they? During 2006, Just Jazz magazine published claims and counterclaims as the bands slugged it out. Gordon Vickers managed the Wall City Jazz Band, naturally from Chester: “I used to go and hear the Merseysippis at the Temple. Alan Sytner told me that he was going to open a jazz club. He had a torch so we went to have a look at it. There were three arches and there was a place like this in Chester called the Crypt. Alan couldn’t call this the Crypt so we decided on the Cavern. He recruited his mates to wash and colour the bricks and concrete the floor, but they didn’t anticipate the humidity of 600 people in the place. On the first night everybody had dandruff and grey flannels because the colour wash came off.”


Most surprisingly, considering he was a dyed-in-the-wool jazz fan, Alan Sytner considered starting with rock’n’roll. “I didn’t like rock’n’roll but the initial plan was to launch Bill Haley and his Comets’ UK tour at the Cavern. They were coming over on a liner and the Daily Mirror thought it would be a good idea if their first appearance was at the Cavern. It was a mad scheme that never happened. There would have been no point in putting on rock’n’roll at the Cavern. There were no local rock’n’roll bands to speak of and hardly any in London. Tony Crombie, who was a good jazz drummer, formed a rock’n’roll group in order to make some money, but I saw them at the Pavilion in Lodge Lane and they were awful.”


The Merseysippi Jazz Band had been formed in 1949 and frequently appeared on national radio. They had taken part in Traditional Jazz Scene, 1955, a live Decca LP from the Royal Festival Hall and they recorded regularly for the Esquire label. They were semi-pro as none of them wanted to give up their day jobs and, although they travelled around, they maintained a city centre residency at the West Coast Jazz Club in the Temple bar and restaurant, about 300 yards from the Cavern in Dale Street. Cornet player John Lawrence: “The licensee, realising that he was on to a very good thing, decided to charge us a lot of money for the room. We were rather annoyed and moved to the Cavern. The Cavern was opened by Alan Sytner, who had found this dirty old cellar in Mathew Street. I was going to say he decorated it, but that would be an overstatement. It was rough and scruffy but it had atmosphere.”


Their bass player, Dick Goodwin, was a stickler for formality and he drew up an agreement transferring the ownership of their club (West Coast Jazz) to Alan Sytner with a separate agreement for the band’s services. He was protecting their interests and it is a world away from the casual beat club bookings that were to follow.


On 18 August 1956, the Evening Express carried a story in its Strictly Jazz column about the Cavern, although it did not have a name as yet. Under the heading “You Shift Umpteen Tons…”, a reference to ‘Tennessee’ Ernie Ford’s hit, “Sixteen Tons”, Derek Dodd described how Sytner had recruited musicians as unpaid navvies. They would chant the chain gang song, “Take This Hammer” as they toiled. They were rewarded with beer at the end of the session, but Sytner soon found that he needed professional help as well. The Strictly Jazz column also referred to the drummer Ron McKay returning from a continental tour to London, and this was not lost on Alan Sytner.


27-year-old Ron McKay had been making his way in the jazz world as a good-looking, effervescent vocalist and drummer. He was described as “the boy who explodes when he sings” and having spent some time with Cy Laurie’s Jazz Band and other noted musicians, he returned home to Bootle in August 1956 and formed a skiffle group. Ron McKay: “I had been playing in Scandinavia with Albert Nicholas and Peanuts Holland. I was sitting in a musicians’ restaurant, the Star, in Old Compton Street and this chap came up to me. He asked me if I was from Liverpool and he knew that I played the drums, and he wanted to know if I would like to open a jazz club for him in Liverpool. I was out of work, so I said, ‘Okay, that sounds good.’ I had my drums downstairs and he just said, ‘Put them in the car and let’s go.’ We left for Liverpool, and we pulled up in Mathew Street. It didn’t look like very much. His name was Alan Sytner and he said, ‘It isn’t fixed yet but you can form a band and we’ll be opening soon.’ Alan and I had a lot of Chinese meals together and we would repair to the Slaughterhouse, which had hooks in the ceiling and gigantic barrels of bass which didn’t do you any favours the next day, that’s for sure.”


Prior to its opening, the Cavern was mentioned in the music press in the Melody Maker on 8 September 1956. Although there were half a dozen flourishing jazz clubs on Merseyside, this would be the first to have its own premises.


At this juncture, a rock’n’roll club would never have been feasible as there was very little of it on Merseyside. The first ad for this new music in the Liverpool Echo was for the Bobby Whittle Rock Group at Wavertree Town Hall on 30 June 1956, and this was followed by Bobby Brown’s Coloured Band at the same venue on 15 September 1956.


The doorway was lit by a single bulb. Eighteen stone steps led down to the cellar which was divided by archways into three long, dimly-lit barrel vaults, each a hundred foot long and ten foot wide. The arched ceiling gave a catacomb effect. The walls were painted plainly with emulsion and there were no curtains or decorations. The entrance to the first vault was used to collect admission money and there was also a cloakroom. The central and largest area contained the stage and a few rows of wooden chairs, which had been discarded by a church and Sytner paid £5 for the lot, hymn-book holders and all. The performers would have to bend to go through the arch into the dressing-room. All the lighting (no coloured filters or bulbs) was concentrated on the stage. There was only dancing – the Cavern stomp – when there was room to move. Given the circumstances, it was an excellent arrangement, but the lavatories were appalling, the band room tiny, and the air rancid. Most people smoked and within minutes of opening, the Cavern could contain hundreds of sweaty bodies. Condensation would cover the walls and drip off the ceilings. There was no ventilation. So much for the Clean Air Act of 1956.


Back to Tony Davis: “The great thing about it was that we discovered speckled paint. There was a colloidal solution of paint with bits of colour in it. It is quite common today but it was unbelievable as up to then you had to put the wash down first and put the dibs on afterwards. The lavatories in the Cavern had this spotted paint and that was the most exciting thing about it. When you went into the Gents at the Cavern you could see people walking overhead through the thick glass roof.”


In a move that would have far-reaching effects, Alan Sytner decided against a liquor licence: “I wasn’t anti-booze but my heart wasn’t in it and I didn’t think that I could meet the requirements for a licence. I was going to get a lot of young people in the place and so it wasn’t a good idea to have booze there. They could always get a pass-out and go to the White Star or the Grapes, where incidentally they might find me.”


Although many commentators remark on the Cavern having no liquor licence, that was hardly significant as it applied to many other venues at the time: consider the 2 I’s in London or the Jacaranda in Liverpool. Serving alcohol wasn’t an essential requirement for a music club back then, although it would be now.


John Parkes recalls his audition for the Merseysippis in January 1957: “Dick Goodwin was the manager of the Merseysippis and somebody had recommended me. I was playing every night in Artie Williams’ 18-piece band in Ellesmere Port, and Dick asked me if I would like to join. I had been teaching a trombone player from the band to read music, so I knew they were busy and I wanted to play with them. Dick asked me to do an audition at the Cavern, which was on the point of opening. I was very nervous as I hadn’t played jazz before except for an occasional solo with the big band. They put all these numbers in front of me and I floundered through them. Dick said, ‘I’ll take you to the Grapes’ and I thought, ‘This is it, it’ll be “No thanks”.’ He said, ‘I’ve never heard anything like that – you’ve never played jazz before and yet you were marvellous.’ So I was in.”


Wednesday 16 January 1957


Missing the Christmas and New Year trade, the Cavern opened on Wednesday 16 January 1957. The opening bill featured the Merseysippi Jazz Band, the Wall City Jazzmen (from Chester), the Ralph Watmough Jazz Band and the Coney Island Skiffle Group (despite the name, from the Wirral). The main attraction was to be the 21-year-old drummer, the Earl of Wharncliffe.


And who was this mysterious Earl of Wharncliffe? Alan Sytner: “The Earl of Wharncliffe had nothing whatever to do with jazz or blues: he had a very iffy rock’n’roll band which only got PR because he was an earl. However, I was keen to make an impact and there was a jazz promoter in Liverpool who had a monopoly on the main jazz bands so I couldn’t hire any of them. I couldn’t get Chris Barber, Ken Colyer or Humphrey Lyttelton for the opening and I had to do something to make an impact.”


The journalist and jazz fan Bob Azurdia was standing in line: “The queue stretched all the way down Mathew Street and into Whitechapel. Prior to the Cavern, the Temple was the only evening venue for jazz in the city and it only opened on Sundays. The only other places you could go to were a cinema, a palais for strict-tempo dancing and a coffee bar. Young people tended not to go to pubs, which in any case closed at ten without any drinking-up time. The Cavern was therefore very welcome.”


Ralph Watmough: “We played on the opening night of the Cavern. The Cavern was an old bonded warehouse and someone had lime washed the walls. The unexpected din from the musicians caused the lime wash to flake off. The Wall City Jazz Band from Chester played the first set and they came off looking like snowmen. They were covered from head to foot and Alan Sytner had to do something to stop it happening again. The Cavern must have been a fire officer’s nightmare. There was one entrance and exit combined and it was down a very narrow steep flight of steps. There were no toilets to speak of and conditions like that could never exist these days.”


The opening notes that evening at the Cavern were played by the Wall City Jazzmen, but what an unlikely choice for the first tune on the premises. Trumpeter Tom Jones: “We were playing at a luxurious gig on Mondays at Quaintways in Chester and a lot of places outside of town were very nice too. We also played the massive King George’s Hall in Blackburn, which was one of Albert Kinder’s shows. We got to the Cavern and it was so grotty and smelly, although the sound was good. In those days we opened with an old folk song, ‘The Miller of the Dee’, which we would jazz up and use as our signature tune. (Sings)


“There was a jolly miller who lived on the river Dee,


He worked and sang from morn til night,


No lark more blithe than he.


And this burden of his song as ever used to be,


I care for nobody, no, not I,


If nobody cares for me.”


We would also do ‘Tiger Rag’, ‘At The Jazz Band Ball’, ‘Muskrat Ramble’, ‘St Louis Blues’ and ‘Tin Roof Blues’. We didn’t have a vocalist then so I would have been singing the odd vocals.”


Paul Blake, clarinettist from the Wall City Jazzmen: “The place had been painted and with the heat, everything started to fall down. I came off wanting a cigarette and I couldn’t even tell that I was smoking. The atmosphere was that bad.”


The Wall City Jazzmen didn’t play the Cavern for another two months. Tom Jones again: “We were too busy, I would guess. There were six of us, seven of us with Gordon’s cut, and we got 25 bob per man for that first night.”


Skiffle was a homemade music incorporating cheap makeshift instruments, which were as likely to come from a chandler as a music shop. The King of Skiffle was Lonnie Donegan, although he and his band played conventional instruments. Roger Planche of the Coney Island Skiffle Group: “We met at about 5pm in Liverpool and decided to have a Chinese before going to the Cavern. The doors did not open until 7pm and we thought we had plenty of time. We went into Mathew Street at 6.45pm and there was a queue from the Cavern entrance down to Whitechapel. We managed to get in with our instruments and we made our way to the band room at the side of the stage. It was already full of musical instruments which belonged to the other bands. At one stage I thought that there must be a leak in the premises above as water was pouring down the walls but it was caused by 600 bodies in close confinement. Roger Baskerfield passed out at one stage and he had to be carried over heads to the door to recover. We performed pretty well and we received £4 between us for our efforts. As it was impossible to get out before the last train to the Wirral, it was all blown on a taxi.”


Roger Baskerfield of the Coney Islands has the best memories of all: “It was so hot on the opening night that I fainted in the dressing room. When I opened my eyes, I found four girls undoing my shirt, so I quickly closed them again.”


Cavern owner Alan Sytner: “I was a member of Liverpool Press Club and one of the boys suggested the Earl of Wharncliffe and said they would write about it. In the end, he didn’t show up because he was at Cirencester Agricultural College and he’d had an ultimatum – ‘Stop doing gigs and get back to college or be expelled.’ He was hauled back but he didn’t bother to inform me. Eventually I got a call when everybody was in the club. I had to announce that he wasn’t coming, but nobody was the least bit bothered because everybody was thrilled to be in the Cavern on its opening night. We had good bands on and everybody had a great time. The fact that the Earl never showed was a much better story than if he had. He did gigs all over the place and so his not showing was a national story.”


Many Beatle books have the Fabs entertaining over 1,000 fans at the Cavern but that is impossible. Alan Sytner: “The maximum ticket sale that we had was 652, and that was on the opening night where we turned more away than we let in. Only a third of the people got in. We had mounted police to control the queue which stretched for half a mile, but, unlike today, there was no trouble when they told people to go home. We got very close to 652 on several other occasions, but it got very heavy when it got to 600. It’s good to say ‘Sorry, we’re full’ when you’re in the entertainment business. We didn’t get to 600 that often, but when we did, we would say, ‘That’s enough’.”


John Lawrence, cornet player with the Merseysippis: “I don’t know what triggered the Cavern’s instant success as I can’t remember Alan doing a lot of advertising. I thought that we were taking a bit of a chance by moving from a moderately comfortable pub to a damp cellar, but it was the best thing that ever happened to us. The audience came flooding in every time we played there. The stage was just about big enough for an eight-piece band, but the piano was hanging over the edge. Acoustically it was very good as there were three long tunnels – the outside tunnels were full of benches and chairs and the centre tunnel with the stage at the end was acoustically just right. It was a long room with hard surfaces, brick and a stone floor, which is always good. If you play in a room full of curtains and thick carpets, you can blow your teeth out trying to make the sound right.”


Pianist with the Merseysippis, Frank Robinson: “Quite surprisingly, the piano at the Cavern wasn’t all that bad and it was kept in tune. It didn’t have a brilliant tone and it was a bit muddy, but it did the job.”


Stan Roberts of the Wall City boys: “The acoustics in the Cavern were very good but I often had sore fingers through notes which didn’t play right or were sticking on the piano.”


Don Lydiatt, clarinettist with the Merseysippis: “We only had one microphone and the amplification wasn’t very good anyway. We just blew and hoped for the best. We got used to it.”


Jazz critic Steve Voce: “Acoustically, the Cavern wasn’t brilliant but we were all much younger and our hearing was much more acute. I can’t remember any problems in hearing bands there. If you’d had a few pints, it was a good place to hear jazz but then I don’t think I ever tried to hear it without having a few pints.”


Speaking at the fortieth anniversary of the Cavern, Keith Hemmings informed me: “Right from the first night, I knew the Cavern was going to be a tremendous success. There was such a spirit in the place – it was so vibrant and exciting. I was going to be Alan’s partner, but we fell out and I disappeared from the scene about a fortnight after it opened. I went into the family business and I had forgotten about my involvement with the Cavern until now.”


Unknowingly, Alan Sytner had one of the great components for success. Current Cavern owner, Bill Heckle: “People like crowds. People may say it is jammed but they go away and tell people how great the atmosphere was. If a concert had been a quarter full, people wouldn’t go away with feelings of being somewhere special. The Cavern was special because it was a relatively small place and it was packed out.”


Friday 18 January 1957


Nothing on Thursday, so the second night on Friday featured two jazz bands (Muskrat Jazz Band and Liverpool University Jazz Band) plus the Gin Mill Skiffle Group. The Gin Mills featured both Tony Davis and Mick Groves, and Tony had left the Muskrat Jazz Band. Mick Groves says, “I was the first washboard player to join the Musicians’ Union. I had a nice letter to thank me for joining, but they didn’t think that they would be able to place a lot of work my way.”


Ray Ennis of the Blue Genes: “Nobody had any money so the tea chests came out and the washboards too. All this was a damn sight cheaper than a drum-kit. If you got three or four guitars strumming away it was quite loud and almost amplified. You then started putting a pick-up on your acoustic guitar and after that, you would save up for an electric guitar and an amplifier. We couldn’t afford anything better at first.”


Guitarist Brendan McCormack: “Skiffle started us all off. I remember the excitement of being able to do this (sings and plays ‘Freight Train’), no chord changes and it was wonderful. Bert Weedon was on TV and he offered a three chord sheet. About six weeks later, it arrived and during a school lunchtime, I was 10 or 11, I tried it. The first chord was an E chord and it was the secret of the universe to me.”


Saturday 19 January 1957


Four jazz bands were on offer: the Panama, the Dolphins and Ralph Watmough’s and Pete Galvin’s. Author Brian Jacques: “I went to my doctor, who was Dr Sytner in Boundary Street, and he asked me what I was doing that night. I said, ‘Nothing really.’ He said, ‘Want to go to a night club?’ He said that his son had opened the Cavern and he gave me two tickets for the Saturday. I said to my bird, who lived in Norris Green, ‘Guess where we’re going.’ She said, ‘To the Cavern.’ I said, ‘How do you know?’ She said, ‘My uncle is a commissionaire and he’s on the door.’ (Laughs) It stunk like a toilet; the water was pouring down the walls, you couldn’t move and it was shoulder to shoulder. I was hit over the head by some girl’s feet as a beatnik with a check shirt and a red beard had thrown her over his shoulder. She wore those flat shoes with the laces that went up the leg and smack! I got a bang on the head.” No wonder the less active Cavern Stomp was devised.


Wednesday 30 January 1957


The drummer Ron McKay, who was with Ralph Watmough’s band, was asked to be the Cavern’s compère and to form a resident skiffle group. He recruited Brian Curtis from the Coney Island Skiffle Group and they played together for a year. Ron McKay’s Skiffle Group and the Architects Jazz Band launched Alan Sytner’s innovation of lunchtime sessions, which was visited by members of Chris Barber’s Jazz Band, who happened to be in town. It was a shrewd move; the Cavern was close to the business quarter so office staff could come along in their lunch breaks. These people would be smartly dressed and the publicity stated “Persons in dungarees not admitted”.


Many of the acts weren’t advertised because it was scratch bands made up from whoever was around. Sometimes Don Lowes’ Dixielanders represented an ad hoc band of whoever was available including Paul Simpson, Ron Rubin, Tommy Smith and Ron McKay. These were gifted musicians – Paul Simpson played with Mick Mulligan and Tommy Smith with Vic Lewis – but they were notably eccentric, if not mad. Simpson and Smith had a double act on the streets in which they would lie on the tramlines doing a Pearl White as the trams came towards them.


The lunchtime sessions had to be rough and ready as most of the musicians had day jobs. “We didn’t do many lunchtime sessions,” says John Lawrence of the Merseysippis, “but we were lucky as I was my own boss and Ken Baldwin had a flexible job at the docks. We could all get there and we could get set up very quickly. We could arrive at 12.45 and be ready to play at one.”


Double bass player, John McCormick: “I first heard about the Cavern when I was 16 and I had a day job in Stanley Street. Someone who worked round the corner said to me, ‘You like jazz so why don’t you come to the lunchtime session at this new place?’ There was a lunchtime session every day from 12 till 2 and they were fantastic. The sessions were fairly loose: the bands had been put together for the occasion but they were musicians who knew each other and knew each other’s styles. Alan Branscombe stands out as he went on to become one of the leading lights of the British jazz scene, in fact, the world jazz scene, and on several instruments too. He played all kinds of styles, especially in the early days, but he became associated with modern jazz after John Dankworth discovered him.”


The lunchtime session could be followed by another one. John McCormick: “Red Carter used to play in the lunchtime sessions and I would go and see him. He would play till two and I would go back to work. The guys would put their instruments down and go across the road to the Grapes and sit down for a breather and a pint. After about 40 minutes, the door would open and Alan would come in and say, ‘Fancy coming back and playing for me’: it would be perhaps him and a couple of pals and he would pay them. He couldn’t keep on going like that.”


The club had only been going for a fortnight but already they had used 17 acts with the Merseysippis and Ralph Watmough leading the field with five appearances apiece. The Merseysippis played that night with the Tony Brown Quartet. The drummer Tony Brown liked a few jars and was jokingly known as ‘Incapability Brown’.


Alan Sytner decided to have skiffle nights, and Ron MacKay and the Gin Mill Skiffle Group, featuring Tony Davis, would alternate as hosts. Tony Davis: “When I was in the Muskrats, the brass men would need a chance to wet their whistle, and so we had a blues session. My wife’s sister, Muriel, was on piano, and our drummer went to washboard. The banjo player stayed and I sang and we did ‘Midnight Special’ and ‘I Ain’t Gonna Give Nobody None Of This Jelly Roll’. We didn’t call it skiffle because that wasn’t a well-known word then. When the skiffle bands came in, they were playing the Lonnie Donegan repertoire. We didn’t, as we were doing jazz songs with a skiffle line-up and that is what we did in the Gin Mills too. There was a photo in Blighty of Mick and me with our beards and our guitars and there was also a banjo, tuba, bass, drums and clarinet at the time. The Gin Mill Skiffle Group was rather different.”


Saturday 2 February 1957


The evening featured Ralph Watmough Jazz Band, the Panama Jazz Band and Ron McKay’s Skiffle Group. Music fan Mick O’Toole: “The Cavern was a jazz club but skiffle was just kicking off and we were the first on our block to put a skiffle band together. Someone told us that they had skiffle bands on at the Cavern. I was 14 and a half and I went with a good mate, Vinnie Murphy. I was the youngest there but they looked after us. We could go in as it wasn’t licensed, an orange juice or a tea for us, and we went for the skiffle bands. I liked Ron McKay’s skiffle group most of all. He had a cracking, good-looking singer called Brian Newman and we were convinced that he was going to be a star but I’ve never heard of him since. Brian thought we were far too young to get in but he would sing our requests. He would sing the Josh White song, ‘If you’re white, you’re all right. If you’re brown, stick around. If you’re black, get back.’ He would get enormous applause for this and I always wondered if it was because of his performance or because he was a half caste?”


John McCormick: “Ron McKay was a larger than life character and I became aware of his charisma in the band when I was in a skiffle group myself and we had a half hour spot at the Cavern. Ron was amazing behind those drums and he blew us away. We were gobsmacked that he had found a black American singer who looked and sounded great, and that seemed to be the real deal for us. He might have come from Burtonwood, but you never knew with Ron as he did use poetic licence. Ron McKay reminded me of Gene Krupa or perhaps I should now say, Animal in the Muppets. His arms were everywhere and he sang big and he announced big and he was a monster drinker and once he’d had a few pints, he was really going for it. He was pretty shy until he had had his first taste. His announcements were big and don’t forget we were teenagers and we would say timidly, ‘And now we would like to play,’ and Ron would shout ‘AND NEXT WE’RE GOING TO HIT YOU WITH LEADBELLY’S SO AND SO.’ We went wow!”


Sunday 3 February 1957


The American jazz guitarist Eddie Condon was with his All-Stars at the Empire, supported by Humphrey Lyttelton and his Band. Alan Sytner invited them to the Cavern after the concert. Peter Morris of the Dolphin Jazz Band: “Eddie Condon was the worse for wear, which was state usual, and he hadn’t appeared in the second half of the show, and it was the two bands minus leaders who came to the Cavern. George Wettling was playing drums watched by all the jazz drummers on Merseyside. One girl threw a bottle at Johnny Parker, who ducked and it hit Jim Bray’s bass. I don’t know what he’d done to upset her.”


Saturday 9 February 1957


The White Eagle Jazz Band in their blue jackets and red bow-ties arrived from Leeds for their Cavern debut and became regulars. They were also their own interval band as the Martin Boland Skiffle Group. Trumpeter John Cook: “I have walked on the Salford Road in thick fog, carrying a torch so that the driver could see where he was going, just to play at the Cavern. One evening I decided to go for a Chinese meal in Lime Street and as I was walking over, I heard someone about to fire a gun. Being an ex-marine, I knew what to do. I ducked and the bullet hit the wall near my head. Maybe it was somebody who thought the band was rotten.”


Bob Frettlohr, also from the White Eagles: “I was in civil engineering but somehow I managed to burn the candle at both ends. I was also doing up my bungalow. I would get four or five hours sleep a night. I’d have a good breakfast and I’d be all right.”


Thursday 21 February 1957


The first modern jazz session took place with the West Indian trumpeter Dizzy Reece, saxophonist Harry Klein and the Trond Svennevig Quartet. Alan Sytner knew he would lose money with modern jazz, but he was determined to present the best he could afford. Twenty-five year old Trond was a Swedish musician based at Manchester University. In later years, the beat groups could play comfortably alongside the trad bands, but the mix of trad and modern jazz never worked and Trond was booed off a jazz festival in Manchester.


Within a month, the Cavern had established itself as the hippest place on Merseyside, not that there was much competition. Alan Sytner: “There were very marked demographics according to the night of the week and what was being put on. On Thursdays I put on modern jazz to please myself and I got a very hip, very cool audience – crew-cuts, button-down collars and little skinny ties. They thought they were massively superior and cleverer than everybody else. These were people who had their own cars and so we could stay open a little later. Sunday was the Merseysippis’ night and they attracted a very middle class audience with lots of people from the Wirral and Crosby. These people didn’t cause any trouble at all, obviously, and as they formed the majority, nobody else did either. Friday night was completely different. We used to get kids from the top end of London Road. There were quite a few gangs and they used to love making trouble, similar to football hooligans today and the same sort of people. If I’d had any sense, I would have closed on Fridays. On Saturdays you got a cross-section. If there was a band with a strong appeal, you would get a nice audience. If it was a so-so band, you would just get whoever was out on Saturday night and going to the Cavern for want of somewhere to go.”


Saturday 23 February 1957


First appearance by Manchester’s Eric Batty’s Jazz Aces. John Cook from the White Eagles: “Eric Batty, sadly, was no double bass player. He had a three string bass and they were all tuned the same. The star of that band was Roy Williams, who is a tremendous trombone player. They were once on stage at the end of a concert with Sidney Bechet and Sidney asked Eric to take a solo. Eric was so embarrassed that he never played again.” That’s a bit heavy duty, isn’t it? Poor bloke.


Thursday 28 February 1957


Modern jazz night with a leading light, saxophonist Don Rendell, who had just formed his own sextet. Cavern fan Owen Clayton: “I have been at modern jazz evenings at the Cavern where there were only five other people in the audience, but they still played their hearts out. I prefer to call it progressive jazz and I’ve always thought it was great for the people who are playing it, but not so great for those who are not technically into it.”


In March 1957 the public health inspector blew up some football bladders at the Cavern to obtain air samples. Outside it was 52 degrees Fahrenheit and inside 82 degrees, a remarkable difference as there were no radiators in the club. The public health inspector lacked the powers available to environmental health officers today and had to rely on persuasion. Nevertheless, a ventilation shaft was installed, but as it extended only 30 feet up in a narrow passage between two high buildings, the air coming into the building was stagnant. Electric fans were installed to circulate the air but, being warm, it was already fetid.


What did Alan Sytner think? Should he have improved conditions at the Cavern? “I didn’t have the finances to do that and anyway the places in Paris were pretty stark. I knew that if I fancied it, they would fancy it, simple as that. I was 21, a little more sophisticated than the average Scouse 21-year-old, but nonetheless, I was a 21-year-old Scouser and I knew that they would like it. The Cavern was bigger than the places I’d seen in Paris, which were also licensed and charged more for admission. Their clubs had an ambience and I knew how to get that at the Cavern.”


Wednesday 6 March 1957


The Merseysippi Jazz Band and Ron McKay’s Skiffle Group. Audience member Mick O’Toole recalls: “The singer Brian Newman broke a string on his guitar one night and said he would have to go to the car for a replacement. Ron McKay picked up a bucket, turned it upside down and drummed on it until he came back. I’d never seen anything like that – it was fabulous.”


Thursday 7 March 1957


The Jamaican saxophonist Joe Harriott fronts a modern jazz night with his quartet. His son, Ainsley, is now a TV chef.


Saturday 9 March 1957


The South Side Stompers, the Ron McKay Skiffle Group and the Paul Beattie Skiffle Group. Paul Beattie came from Manchester: he switched to rock’n’roll and recorded as Paul Beattie and the Beats for Parlophone (‘I’m Comin’ Home’, 1957: ‘A House A Car And A Wedding Ring’, 1958). Paul Beattie is therefore the first bona fide rock’n’roller to play the Cavern.


Ron McKay’s diary reveals just how much work there was around for a decent skiffle group. Not only was he playing at the Cavern, he also had dates at the 21 Club, Bedford Club, Wilson Hall as well as clubs in Wallasey, Ellesmere Port and Prescot.


Wednesday 13 March 1957


American blues singer, Big Bill Broonzy, making his only Cavern appearance, with the Merseysippi Jazz Band. Although George Harrison would have been too young to attend, he is often cited as one of George’s favourite musicians. Broonzy arrived at Lime Street Station but fell off the train, causing him to be introduced as “Big Bill Bruised Knees”. When Broonzy was introduced to Tony Davis, who was six foot seven, he said, “From now on they’d better call me Little Bill Broonzy.” Broonzy was given a bottle of whisky which he finished in the half-hour before going on stage. He went into a transport café and asked if everything was with chips. On being told it was, he said, “In that case I’ll have a double Scotch with chips.”


Tony Davis: “I was in a taxi with Bill and another local musician, Ron Rubin, and Big Bill said, ‘I could do with some whiskey. If when I was born, anybody had told me that there weren’t no whiskey, I would have said, “I’ll go right back where I came from.” ’ Ron said, ‘Bill, you’ve been trying to get back to where you came from ever since you were a boy.’ Bill was a remarkable man, beautiful voice and great guitar playing. I got a lovely letter in which he said that he wouldn’t be coming over anymore to sing with us but he would come and play his guitar. This was when he had cancer of the throat, but he never returned. We really loved him and he was a good friend.” Big Bill Broonzy died in 1958.


Ron McKay: “Big Bill Broonzy’s voice would fill the Cavern on its own. He didn’t need anything else but his own guitar. The girl I married was a non-drinker and she was the only person he would trust with his bottle of whisky when he went on stage. He didn’t want to share it with anybody else.”


Thursday 14 March 1957


First appearance by the Tubby Hayes All Star Quartet, supported by the Trond Svennevig Quartet. Steve Voce: “Jazz was still being polarised between modern fans and traditional fans, and Ronnie Scott and Tubby Hayes would never have had a platform in Liverpool if it weren’t for Alan Sytner. Alan Sytner deserves a lot of credit for what he did.”


Alan Sytner: “Some of the modern jazz musicians were really laid-back and terribly unpunctual. They took playing seriously but they didn’t take making a living seriously. They were all pros, but they were very hard to deal with. Tubby Hayes, the little giant, was the worst. Once he came to Liverpool on the train and he drank 28 bottles of Worthington Green Shield between Euston and Lime Street. He was all right, he was an amazing bloke, but he wasn’t that all right. He still played. Another night he turned up at 10 o’clock for an 8 o’clock gig. He was full of apologies and said he would play until one in the morning, knowing full well that we had to close at 11.30.”


Saturday 16 March 1957


Hello to the Dickie Bishop Skiffle Group. Bishop had replaced Lonnie Donegan in Chris Barber’s Jazz Band and, in 1999, his song, ‘No Other Baby’, was performed by Paul McCartney at the Cavern. Dickie Bishop: “I have very fond memories of the Cavern as I spent my wedding night there. When we went back to the hotel, everything was laid on for us, so they are lovely people and lovely memories. When Paul McCartney recorded ‘No Other Baby’, he didn’t know how he knew the song, but I know. I would also include it in my set, so quite possibly he heard me sing it.”


The West Coast Skiffle Group (who became the Deltones) was a skiffle group with an electric guitar. Their guitarist was Alan Willey: “It was only electric because I’d made my own amplifier. I had enough technical knowledge to build my own amplifier, but it was only a single-ended thing, probably between 6 and 10 watts. It wasn’t very loud initially and my friend, Bernard Whitty said that I needed a decent speaker. He told me to get a Goodman’s Audium 50, which was a 12-inch speaker. It was on a Saturday and we installed it in the amplifier and I used it on the Cavern that night. We put it right at the front of the stage, and I wound it up full and hit an E chord and the first four or five rows went ‘Oooh!’ I knew then that it was loud enough.”


Sunday 31 March 1957


First appearance by Johnny Duncan and the Blue Grass Boys, supported by the Merseysippi boys. Duncan still had to take the last train to San Fernando.


Wednesday 3 April 1957


A top UK band, Alex Welsh Dixielanders played both a lunchtime and an evening session.


Not quite the Beatles in Hamburg, but from 13 to 27 April 1957, Ron McKay took his skiffle group on a tour of Denmark.


Tuesday 9 May 1957


Modern jazz with Alan Branscombe, Bobby Orr and Stuart Hammer. 21-year-old Branscombe from Wallasey played modern jazz at the Cavern before moving to London. He toured Europe with Stan Getz in 1970.


Friday 24 May 1957


The Muskrat Jazz Band with the Gin Mill and Texans skiffle groups. Rory Storm made his Cavern debut as leader of the Texans, sometimes billed as the Ravin’ Texans. He became the first of the key Liverpool beat figures to play there.


The Gin Mill Skiffle Group with Tony Davis and Mick Groves added English folk songs to the mix such as ‘D’ye ken John Peel’ and ‘The Lincolnshire Poacher’, arranged for banjo and whistle. They supported Michael Holliday at the Liverpool Empire and played a fêté for the Conservatives at Aigburth cricket ground in 1958. Shortly after this, they became the Spinners, not a cricket reference but a reflection of working traditions of Lancashire. In September 1958, they opened their own club in the basement of Sampson and Barlow’s in London Road, which held about 40.


Tony Davis: “The show with Michael Holliday was lovely. He had a bright red shirt and he said, ‘You like the shirt, I got it from the skiffle group.’ (Laughs) My dad was in the balcony and he was never particularly keen on me doing these things. When I got a clarinet in the early jazz days, he wanted me to have lessons and I said, ‘They didn’t have lessons in New Orleans.’ That was very silly of me because they did have lessons in New Orleans, very much so. I might have been a decent clarinet player, who knows, but I insisted on teaching myself. But my dad was on the front row of the balcony saying, ‘That’s my son’, and my mother was saying, ‘Shut up, Jack’.”


Sunday 26 May 1957


An excellent week for skifflers: Dickie Bishop (Sunday), Ron McKay (Wednesday and Friday), the Smokey River Skiffle Group (Friday) and the Gin Mill Skiffle Group (Saturday), all at the Cavern. Over at the Empire, there was a week of Lonnie Donegan and he came to the Cavern on the Saturday morning for a meeting with his fan club. The national Hit Parade magazine reports that “more than 100 fans in Liverpool enjoyed buns and Coca-Cola with Lonnie in the Cavern Jazz Club”. Ron McKay told Pete Morris of the Dolphins that he had seen Lonnie’s car, “an American job which stretches all the way to Bootle”.


Ron McKay: “I compered Lonnie Donegan’s fan club meeting and I think Des O’Connor played the piano and Lonnie played the banjo and I sang. It was a lunchtime thing. I lived with Lonnie for a time in a flat that was run by a gangster. I was with Cy Laurie at the time and he was with Chris Barber and he was, as always, very opinionated.” Ron’s diary reveals that he played 14 sessions at the Cavern during May 1957 and received £39.10s for the month. He had another nine nights playing Wilson Hall, the 21 and Bedford Clubs and two other venues for £17.10s. Ron was working long hours but £57 for the month was good money in 1957.


Alan Willey: “One night the buzz had gone round that the film star John Gregson was coming to the Cavern. Then the word came in that he was outside. We were about to go on and Ron McKay engineered things so that he would be playing and I stood at the back and saw John Gregson with a large cigar and a light-haired camel-haired overcoat and he looked at the place with disdain.”


But not for long. Arthur Johnson: “John Gregson, my uncle, was a man who liked to enjoy himself. He discovered the Cavern just after it opened and he was absolutely raving about it. He took his uncle, my great uncle Paddy Gregson, who was a musician and they went with George Melly. John Gregson felt as though he was in Paris, and he went there quite a bit, and he really did like the place.


Sunday 2 June 1957


Bruce Turner, who had just left Humphrey Lyttelton’s band, freelanced with the Merseysippis, plus Ralph Watmough’s Jazz Band.


Wednesday 5 June 1957


Skiffle session with five different bands including the Gin Mills. Alan Sytner: “There were hundreds of skiffle and blues groups in the country, the Lonnie Donegan factor was mega, so on Wednesdays I put on a competition for local talent. It encouraged kids who were learning to play, and I would have a couple of more accomplished groups who could play. These kids did the Lonnie Donegan, Dickie Bishop and Johnny Duncan repertoires and they were all pretty awful. Talent night was no talent night as far as I was concerned but I wasn’t being altruistic as skiffle was very commercial.”


Jazz fan Steve Voce: “We disliked skiffle with almost the same contempt that we disliked rock’n’roll. I didn’t like Lonnie Donegan in the least, but he saw an opening and seized it. The only reason that skiffle was tolerated at the Cavern was because it made some money for some jazz musicians with whom we were sympathetic. The genuine skiffle music – Big Bill Broonzy, Blind Lemon Jefferson, the people from the 20s – was marvellous, but the later thing was a fraud.”


Around this time, Alan Sytner had a further idea. Carpenter and builder Ian Harris: “The warehouse originally had a brick floor but this was very unsuitable for dancing, so Alan Sytner thought about concreting the middle section and having tables and chairs in the other aisles. In the end, he wanted to concrete the lot and the place was closed for a few days around June or July 1957 and we got the concrete in through a trapdoor in the street. I used to play trumpet in a jazz band but we were never good enough to play the Cavern. My friend Bob Parr and I used to take our instruments to work with us and we would practice in the lunch hour. We were doing some work at the Cavern one day around June 1957 – I can date it because my future wife and her friend were off school on exam leave – and both Acker Bilk and Chris Barber came down to see the place. There was no one else in but they saw us playing and as they had their instruments with them, they joined in on ‘The Saints’.”


Wednesday 3 July 1957


Skiffle contest with the Gin Mill, Black Cat and Mathew Street skifflers. Alan Stratton from the Kansas City Five: “Alan Sytner said that he would only have jazz bands, rhythm bands or skiffle bands at the Cavern and if you were playing in a rhythm band, you were something like a steel band. The Black Cats played rock’n’roll but they called themselves the Black Cats Rhythm Group so that they could play there. They did what they considered blues, ‘St Louis Blues’, ‘Guitar Boogie’ and ‘Frankie And Johnny’, and I saw them and was made up.”


Saturday 6 July 1957


The Merseysippi and Ralph Watmough jazz bands were at the Cavern, but just a few miles away, John Lennon met Paul McCartney for the first time at the garden fête in the grounds of the Woolton Parish Church. On that same day, there was also a summer fête at Quarry Bank school, although the Quarry Men were at the church event. That’s not all the entertainment you could choose from on that warm summer day. Local promoter Sam Leach: “On the night that John and Paul met in Woolton, I rented a garage with a band called the Black Diamonds and we called it The Attic as opposed to The Cavern. The Cavern was exciting but I didn’t like going there because they weren’t my kind of girls – they were beatniks. The beatniks wanted to be different and yet they all dressed and acted the same. I did go there to see the Ken Colyer jazz band, who were my favourites and I also liked Dick Charlesworth and the City Gents, but I got a bit bored with evenings that were all jazz. I bought a brand new pair of Hush Puppies for this date with a girl in the Cavern and she was gorgeous. She wasn’t a beatnik. My shoes got ruined because of the broken glass and cigarette ends on the floor. The sweat came down the walls and I came out looking like a tramp.”


John McCormick of the Black Diamonds: “We would do anything that any of us fancied. The guitar player loved Hank Williams and Django Reinhardt and we had some instrumentals that were guitar led. They were very fast and technical, and we had a good strong rhythm guitarist too. Playing the tea chest bass wasn’t bad. I could get a scale out of it as I would move the pole forward and back and different pitches of notes. I tried corrugated bins, upside down and right way up, all kinds of things, and then I found a bass advertised very cheap in a corner shop and bought it. I was once there with the Black Diamonds supporting a band from London who had had one hit record and the bass player picked on me and said, ‘Give it up now, son, you’re not going to make it. Bass players are born and you’re not one. Go and find a nice steady day job.’ I thought, ‘Thank you very much!’ I never heard of them again.”


Wednesday 24 July 1957


Skiffle session with country from Hank Walters and his Dusty Road Ramblers. Hank Walters: “We got a lot of bookings and we didn’t do the Cavern too often as it was only £7.50 for five people. Still, that was reasonable as a lot of them were doing it for nothing. It was also a hot gig as I wore a buckskin coat and had an accordion. The sweat must have been squirting out of me.”


Saturday 28 July 1957


The Merseysippi and Panama jazz bands. The Panama’s drummer, Bill Williams, was a regimental drum major. Drummer John Cochrane: “I went to the Cavern when it was a jazz club and I saw the Panama and Merseysippi jazz bands. They were good, but the place was awful. It is very difficult to get an eight-piece band with piano and drum-kit on stage and the facilities were dreadful too. However, the atmosphere was tremendous.”


Wednesday 31 July 1957


Eddie Clayton had just formed his skiffle group with a certain Richard Starkey on drums and hence, Ringo, by a week, was the first Beatle to play the Cavern. On the same night, Ray Ennis and Norman Kuhlke made their Cavern debut with a band that mixed skiffle with trad, the Blue Genes. Alan Sytner said that they swung, hence the Swinging Blue Genes but the spelling wasn’t anything clever: Spud Ward wrote ‘Blue Genes’ on the drums (moving up in the world!), thinking he was spelling ‘Blue Jeans’. “I wish we’d worn jeans from the outset,” says Ralph Ellis, “but wearing a suit on stage was a sign of success.” Those Martini shirts perhaps, but certainly not the fluorescent socks that Spud wore when he was cycling there and back.


Ray Ennis: “We had been to the Cavern before we played there and we had watched the jazz bands. We knew Rikki Ashen, who was employed by Alan Sytner as the day-to-day manager. When the bands took a break, nothing much happened and Bruce McCaskill said that that we were a skiffle group and we could keep everything going. After a few weeks of humming and hawing, Rikki gave us a try. We would fill in for nearly all the jazz bands, just doing half an hour here and there.”


Wednesday 7 August 1957


The Quarry Men with lead vocalist John Lennon made their Cavern debut. Paul McCartney was a Quarryman but he was at scout camp in the Lake District. Alan Sytner: “Skiffle was a breeding ground for musicians – one or two of them became jazz musicians, but more ended up doing rock’n’roll. I knew John Lennon quite well as we lived in the same area; he lived 400 yards up the road from me. He was 16 and arrogant and hadn’t got a clue, but that was John Lennon.”


Len Garry played tea-chest bass with the Quarry Men: “I knew John wanted to do some Elvis numbers but I hoped he wouldn’t as we might get turfed out.”


Their drummer was Colin Hanton: “We did some skiffle numbers to start off with at the Cavern but we also did rock’n’roll. John Lennon was passed a note and he said to the audience, ‘We’ve had a request’. He opened it up and it was Alan Sytner saying, ‘Cut out the bloody rock’n’roll.’”


Len Garry: “I got TB soon after this and I did wonder if I had picked it up in the Cavern. There was no ventilation in there.”


Cavern regular Dave Jamieson: “I used to like the Gin Mill who always started with ‘Down By The Riverside’, the Smokey River, the Atlantics, and Ron McKay, who was a very good drummer. The Darktown Skiffle Group was my favourite as they had been put together to back a very good girl singer, Jill Martin. I went down in August 1957 because the Deltones and the Darktown were on. The Quarry Men were on too and that was the first time I met John Lennon. He wasn’t interested in talking about football. John would see something happening and he would make a joke about it.” That girl singer, Jill Martin, was to join the Merseysippis, while Ringo Starr sometimes sat in with the Darktown group.


This evening showed the division within the different skiffle groups. The first ones had emerged from the jazz bands and were there to provide entertainment while the brass players had a rest. Now younger bands like the Quarry Men were coming along. They did not know of the jazz tradition, taking their cue from Lonnie Donegan’s records, and they were more interested in the new rock’n’roll records than jazz.


Ron McKay, although he didn’t know it, would have been the first person to introduce John Lennon at the Cavern. Ron received £4 for his work that evening, mostly for playing with his own skiffle group. Their repertoire included ‘My Bonnie Lies Over The Ocean’, a folk song that the Beatles recorded with Tony Sheridan in Hamburg in 1961.


Ron McKay: “When I finished at the Cavern, it would be about 11 o’clock and I used to walk home to Bootle. I would go along Scotland Road and past the Rotunda at one or two in the morning. It was a hell of a walk but it used to keep me fit and I would sing all these songs as I was going along. I would try and remember the words of ‘Frankie And Johnnie’.”

OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
“WORLD FAMOUS”

"CAVERN..

RISE OF THE BEATLES AND MERSEYBEAT
|

} ]
= Foreword by §
8 .:;S,I.R PAUL McCARTNEY §

£

g

5042 20 942 200,29 2 A2 2 0.2, 800,92 0 A2 QSR

SPENCER LEIGH





OEBPS/images/title.png
“WORLD FAMOUS”

"CAVERN..

RISE OF THE BEATLES AND MERSEYBEAT

e |

Foreword by
I SIR PAUL McCARTNEY |

[ |

SPENCER LEIGH





